A. IDEKTITY OF PETITIONER 

Eloy A. Garza asks this Court to accept review of the decision of 

Division Three of the Court of Appeals terminating review designated in Part 

B of this petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Gar?.a seeks review of the unpublished opinion filed on January 

27. 2015. affirming his conviction. A copy of the opinion is attached as 

Appendix A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the trial court should have suppressed the statements 

made by Mr. Garza to Trooper BerghotTinside his patrol car. 

Whether the trial court should have suppressed the fruits of the 

warrantless search of Mr. Garza. 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On f cbruary 19, 2011 1
• otliccrs were dispatched to a one-car 

accident. where a car collided with a tree. (RP 36. 37. 190-191, 330-332). 

No one was inside of the car. and two of the four doors were open. (RP 193. 

332). The vehicle airbags were deployed. (RP 203-204. 334. 367). There 

was blood on the driver's side airbag. (RP 70-71.205.232.252. 367). 

The Report of Proceeding~ consists of live consecmivel:y paginated volumes. and 
one separate volume containing voir dire. Reference to ·'RP" herein refers to the live 
consecutively paginated volumes. 



After learning that an individual was seen walking near the accident 

scene. State Trooper Seth Berghoff attempted to locate this individual. (RP 

333). He located the individuaL who was identified as Eloy Garza. (RP 

335-337). Trooper Berghoff smelled an odor of intoxicants coming from his 

person. and noticed that Mr. Garza had bloodshot and watery eyes. (RP 342. 

350-351). Trooper Berghoff placed Mr. Garza in the back ofhis patrol car. 

(RP 336-337). After questioning Mr. Garza regarding his involvement in the 

accident. Trooper Berghoff drove Mr. Garza to the hospital. (RP 338-340. 

342. 351-352). 

At the hospital. State Trooper Todd Haddorff contacted Mr. Garza. 

(RP 21 9). Mr. Gar?..a was unresponsive. (RP 219. 238). Trooper Haddorff 

read Mr. Garza his Mirande? rights and the DUI packet constitutional rights. 

including the special evidence warning for blood draws. (CP 102: RP 238-

239. 242). When Trooper Haddorffa~ked Mr. Garza if he understood his 

rights. Mr. Garza did not respond. (CP 102: RP 239). Mr. Garza did not 

sign the constitutional rights page from the DUI packet. because he was 

unresponsive. (RP 239-240. 242-243). Mr. Gar7li also did not sign the 

special evidence warning for blood draws from the DUI packet because he 

was unresponsive. (RP 240. 242-243). Trooper Haddorffwrotc 

.Miranda\'. Ari::ona. 384 C.S. 436.86 S. Ct. 1602. 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). 



.. unresponsive"' on both forms. (RP 240. 242-243). He did not articulate a 

specific reason why Mr. Garza was unresponsive. (RP 229-244 ). According 

to Trooper Haddorff. Mr. Garn was aware he was a suspect in the case. (RP 

245). 

Blood samples were then taken from Mr. Garza without his consent. 

(RP 228. 243). Mr. Garza's blood alcohol level was .17 grams per hundred 

milliliters. (RP 149: State· s Ex. 11 ). 

Victoria Gil. who was a passenger in the car at the time of the 

accident. wa<> at the hospital at the same time as Mr. Garza. (RP 44-45. 217-

218, 344). Ms. Gil had a broken arm. (RP 158-159. 163-164, 166.401-402. 

405. 407-408). 

Mr. Garza was not placed under arrest. (RP 245. 295-296. 619). On 

March 18. 201 L when the lead detective in the case spoke with Mr. Garza. 

he did not suspect Mr. Garza ofbeing the driver of the car. but rather. 

suspected the driver was Mr. Garza's first cousin, Michael Garza. (RP 82. 

126. 131,370.376. 430). 

The State later charged Mr. Garza with one count of Vehicular 

Assault. with the date of offense a<> February 19.2011. (CP 1 ). 

The trial court held a 3.5 hearing to determine the admissibility of the 

statements Mr. Garza made to Trooper Berghoff in his patrol car. ( CP 96-

99: RP 268-309). At the hearing. Trooper Berghoff was the only witness . 

.., 

.) 



(RP 268-298). Trooper Berghoff found Mr. Garza walking down the road. 

and Mr. Garza was soaking wet. (CP 97: RP 272. 279-280). He pulled his 

patrol car behind Mr. Garza and got out to speak to him. (RP 281 -282). 

Trooper Berghoff asked Mr. Garza what happened. and Mr. GarLa said he 

wanted to sit in the patrol car and warm up. (CP 97: RP 272-275. 282-283. 

297-298). 

Trooper Berghoff did not handcuff Mr. Garza. (RP 285 ). He patted 

Mr. Garza down to make sure he did not have any weapons. and put him in 

the patrol car. (CP 97: RP 285. 294. 297). He gave Mr. Garza a blanket and 

turned up the heater. (CP 97-98: RJl 272-273. 274. 284-285. 294). 

Trooper Berghoff then asked Mr. Garza some questions. (CP 97-98: 

RP 274-275. 286-287). He asked Mr. Garza if he was involved in the crash. 

and Mr. Garza told him ""[h)e was just trying to get home, and then he stated 

that he"d missed his turn to get onto Higgins road:· (RP 275,286.291 ). 

Trooper Berghoff did not read Mr. GarLa his Miranda. rights. (CP 

97-98: RP 274). Mr. GarLa was unable to open the door of the patrol car and 

get out. (CP 97: RP 287). Trooper Berghoff testified that Mr. Garza was not 

a suspect and that he was free to leave. until the point when Mr. Garza 

answered his question by stating that he missed his turn onto Higgins Road. 

(CP 97: RP 273.288-292. 295). Trooper Berghoff testified that Mr. Garza 
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did not ask to leave. (RP 294 ). He also testified that he never told Mr. Garza 

that he was under arrest. (RP 295-296 ). 

The trial court ruled the statements made by Mr. Garza to Trooper 

Berghoff in his patrol car were admissible. (CP 96-99: RP 306-309). The 

trial court concluded that Mr. Garza was not in custody when the statements 

were made. (CP 98: RP 308-309). The trial court entered findings of fact 

and conclusions of law following the 3.5 hearing. (CP 96-99). 

Mr. Garza moved to suppress the blood draw. arguing that a search 

warrant was required in order to conduct the blood draw. ( CP 30-34 ). Mr. 

Garza relied on the case of Missouri\'. AlcNeely. 133 S. Ct. 1552. 185 L. Ed. 

2d 696 (2013). for his argument. (CP 30-34: RP 6-7. 309-314). 

After hearing argument from the parties. the trial court denied Mr. 

Garza· s motion to suppress. ( CP 1 00-1 03; RP 309-3 14: RP 608-609). The 

trial court concluded that the blood draw was justified under the implied 

consent statute. RCW 46.20.308. and that Missouri v .. McNeely did not 

address the validity of implied consent statutes. (CP 103: RP 309-314.608-

609 ). The trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions oflaw on the 

motion. ( CP 1 00-103: RP 602-609). While entering the findings of fact and 

conclusions oflaw. the trial court stated that there were not any exigent 

circumstances. (RP 606-607. 609). 

5 



At triaL Trooper Berghoff testified regarding the statements made by 

Mr. Garza inside his patrol car. (RP 337-340. 351-352). The results of Mr. 

Garza· s blood draw were admitted into evidence. (RP 134-152: State· s Ex. 

11 ). The State also admitted evidence that the DNA in Mr. Garza· s blood. 

taken in the blood draw. matched the DNA in blood found on the driver"s 

side airbag of the car. (RP 246-262: State's Ex. 1 0). And. the State admitted 

evidence regarding the probability that a first cousin ofJ\tlr. Garza would 

match the DNA in blood found on the driver's side airbag of the car. (RP 

258-262: State·s Ex. 25). 

Mr. Garza testified in his own defense. (RP 518-536). He told the 

court he had no recollection of the accident, or of talking to Trooper 

Berghoff. (RP 523-525). Mr. Garza testified he remembers drinking alcohol 

at a party at Ms. Gil" s house. and then remembers waking up in the hospital. 

(RP 5,.,..., 5'1- -.., 1 -"4 '1"6) _.:_- _.). ).) ')_, . -.) . 

Ms. Gil testified that Mr. Garza was seated in the backseat of the car. 

(RP 181-182. 184). Trooper Haddorfftestified that while talking with Ms. 

Gil at the hospital. she told him that Mr. GarLa was seated in the right rear 

passenger side of the car. (RP 237). 

Mr. Garza·s mother testified that on the night of the accident. 

Michael Garza told her that Mr. Garza was not driving the car. (RP 412. 

466-467 ). Ms. Gil's father testified that he saw someone put Mr. Garza in 
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the backseat of the car, when leaving the party at Ms. Girs house. (RP 484. 

488. 490, 500). 

The jury found Mr. Garza guilty ofV chicular Assault. (CP 79. 104-

112: RP 594). Mr. Garza appealed. (CP 123. 129-138). 

On appeaL Mr. Garza argued the trial court erred in admitting both 

the statements he made to Trooper Berghoff inside his patrol car and the 

fruits of the warrantless search of his person. the taking of blood samples 

from him without his consent. 

In an unpublished decision filed on January 27. 2015. the Court of 

Appeals at1irmed Mr. Garza's conviction. holding the trial court did not err 

in admitting the statements made by Mr. Garza to Trooper Berghoff inside 

his patrol car; the trial court did not err in admitting the blood alcohol 

content (BAC) result under the applicable implied consent statute. RCW 

46.20.308(3) (2011 )3; and that even ifRCW 46.20.308 (201 J) is 

unconstitutional. any error in admitting the BAC result is harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt. See Appendix A. The Court of Appeals found that "Mr. 

Garza moved solely to suppress the BAC results and not the DNA results. 

3 This version of the implied consent statute is no longer in effecl. Effective 
September 28. 2013. the Legislature amended RCW 46.20.308 to permit blood tests onl;. 
for specified crimes. and "pursuant to a search warrant. a valid waiver of the warrant 
requirement. or when exigent circumstances exist ... RCW 46.20.308(3): Laws of20!3. 
2nd Special Session ch. 35, ~ 36. 
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.No issue is raised here concerning Dl\A evidence admissibility:· Appendix 

A pg. 12 n. 5. Mr. Garza now seeks review of this unpublished decision. 

E. ARGUME:t\T AS TO WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. THE COCRT Of APPEALS' DECISION- THAT 
THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR 11\J 
ADMITTING THE STATEMENTS MADE BY MR. 
GARZA TO TROOPER BERGHOFf INSIDE IllS 
PATROL CAR- CONFLICTS WITH CASE LAW. 
POSES A SIG1\IFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL 
ISSUE. AND WARRANTS REVIEW AS A 
MATTER OF PUBLIC INTEREST. 

The Court of Appeals decision that the trial court did not err in 

admitting the statements made by Mr. Garza to Trooper Berghoff inside his 

patrol car conflicts with decisions of this Court. involves a significant question 

of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and of the United 

States. and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by this Court. See RAP 13 .4(b). 

Miranda warnings must be given whenever a suspect is subject to 

custodial interrogation by police. Mh·anda v. Arizona. 384 U.S. 436. 467-

68. 86 S. Ct. 1602. 16 L Ed. 2d 694 ( 1966 ). This protects a defendant's 

Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incriminmion. Id. at467. ··Thus. 

[ w ]hether an officer should have given Miranda \\arnings to a defendant 

depends on whether the examination or questioning constituted ( l) a 

custodial (2) interrogation (3) by a state agent."' Staler. Gro~JW1. 147 Wn. 

8 



App. 511. 517. 195 P .3d 1 017 (2008) (citations omitted) (alteration in 

original). If police conduct a custodial interrogation without Miranda 

warnings. statements made hy the suspect during the interrogation may not 

be introduced trial. Miranda. 384 C.S. at 479. 

Trooper Berghoffs question to Mr. Garza. asking whether he was 

involved in the crash. was interrogation. (RP 275. 286. 291 ). 

Interrogation is questioning that is reasonably likely to elicit an 

incriminating response. State v. 1-falton. 64 Wn. App. 410. 414. 824 P .2d 

533 (1992): see also State v. Wilson. 144 Wn. App. 166. 184, 181 P.3d 

887 (2008). Asking Mr. Garza whether he was involved in the accident 

meets this standard. 

The disputed issue at the 3.5 hearing was whether the statements 

made hy Mr. Garza to Trooper Berghoff inside his patrol car were 

custodial. (CP 98: RP 268-309). 

A formal arrest is not required to entitle a suspect to 1'viiranda 

warnings. Stater. Daniels. 160 Wn.2d 256.266. 156 P.3d 905 (2007). 

Custody is defined as ··whether a reasonable person in a suspect's position 

would have felt that his or her freedom was curtailed to the def:_,rrec 

associated with a formal arrest.,. State v. Heritage. 152 Wn.2d 21 0. 218. 

95 P .3d 345 (2004 ). '"Custody is a mixed question of fact and la\\ .... 

Grogan. 14 7 Wn. App. at 51 7 (quoting Stale r. 5iolomon. 114 Wn. App. 
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781. 787.60 P.3d 1215 (2002)). --·The legal inquiry detennines, given the 

factual circumstances. whether a reasonable person [would] have felt he or 

she was not at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave .. ,. /d. 

(alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted) 

(quoting Solomon. 114 Wn. App. at 787-88). ""'[T]he reviewing court 

applies an objective test to determine the ultimate inquiry: whether there 

was a formal arrest or restraint of the defendant to a degree consistent with 

formal arrest.··· Jd. (alteration in original) (quoting Stater. Relm. 1 17 Wn. 

App. 142, 153. 69 P.3d 379 (2003)). 

Mr. Garza was in custody once Trooper Berghoff placed him in his 

patrol car. Although Mr. Garza requested to sit in the patrol car. Trooper 

Berghoff physically placed him there. (RP 294). Prior to doing so. 

Trooper Berghoff patted Mr. Garza down for weapons. (CP 97: RP 285. 

297). Once in the patrol car. Mr. Garza could not get out of the car on his 

own. (CP 97: RP 287). 

After being patted do\Vn and placed in a patrol car by a police 

officer. with doors he could not open himself. a reasonable person would 

have felt his freedom '·wa'i curtailed to the degree associated with a formal 

arrest.'. Heritage. 152 Wn.2d at 218. Under these circumstances. a 

reasonable person would have felt he was not at liberty· to terminate the 

10 



interrogation and leave. See Grogan. 14 7 Wn. App. at 517 (quoting 

Solomon. 114 Wn. App. at 787-88). 

The trial court erred in concluding that Mr. Garza was not in custody 

when he made statements to Trooper Berghoff inside his patrol car. and in 

admitting these statements at trial. (CP 98: RP 306-309. 337-340. 351-352). 

Because Mr. Garza was in custody. Miranda warnings were required. See 

Miranda. 84 U.S. at 467-68: Grogan, 147 Wn. App. at 516-517. Trooper 

Berghoff did not give Mr. Garza Afiranda warnings. (CP 97-98: RP 274). 

Therefore. the trial court should have suppressed the statements made by Mr. 

Garza to Trooper Berghoff inside his patrol car. See Miranda. 384 U.S. at 

479. The Court of Appears decision should be reversed and the case 

remanded for a new trial. 

.., THE COURT OF 1<\PPEALS. DECISION- THAT 
THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN 
ADMITTING THE BAC AND LIMITING ITS 
DECISION TO THE BAC RESULT ONLY
CONFLICTS WITH CASE LAW. POSES A 
SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE. AND 
WARRANTS REVIEW AS A MATTER OF 
PUBLIC INTEREST. 

The Court of Appeals decision that the trial court did not err in 

admitting the BAC and limiting its decision to the BAC result only conflicts 

with decisions of this Court. involves a significant question of law under the 

Constitution ofthe State of Washinf,rton and of the United States. and 
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involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be detennined by 

this Court. See RAP 13.4(b). 

In the Court of Appeals, Mr. Gaua argued the fruits of the 

warrantless search of his person, the taking of blood samples from him 

without his consent. should have been suppressed. The fruits of the 

warrantless search are the blood samples and related testimony. including the 

BAC result: evidence that the DNA in Mr. Gar.la · s blood. taken in the blood 

draw. matched the DNA in blood found on the driver's side airbag of the car: 

and evidence regarding the probability that a first cousin of Mr. Garza would 

match the DNA in blood found on the driver's side airbag of the car. 

However. the Court of Appeals limited its decision to the BAC result 

only. See Appendix A. pgs. 8-12. The Court of Appeals stated: '"The State 

aptly notes Mr. Garza moved solely to suppress the BAC results and not the 

DNA results. No issue is raised here concerning DNA evidence 

admissibility." Appendix A. pg. 12 n. 5. 

To the contrary. in his motion to suppress. Mr. Garza moved to 

suppress "the blood draw[,]" not just the BAC. (CP 30). Therefore. the 

Court of Appeals erred in limiting its decision to the BAC only and in not 

considering IVlr. Garza's arguments that the trial court erred in failing 10 

suppress the fruits of the warrantless search of his person. the blood draw 

and related testimony. including DNA evidence admissibility. 

12 



The law enforcement officers violated the provisions prohibiting 

unreasonable searches and seizures. under the Fourth Amendment and 

Article L § 7 of the Washington State Constitution, by taking blood samples 

from Mr. Garza without a warrant. Missouri v. McNeeZv. 133 S. Ct. 1552. 

1556. 1558. 1563, 1568. 185 L. Ed. 2d 696 (2013). ·'[T]he taking of blood 

samples constitutes a 'search and seizure· within the meaning of U.S. Const. 

amend. 4 and Const. art. L ~ 7:· 5"tate v. Judge, 100 Wn.2d 706. 71 L 675 

P.2d 219 (1984) (citing State v. Meacham. 93 Wn.2d 735. 738, 612 P.2d 795 

( 1980): Schmerber v. California. 384 U.S. 757. 86 S. Ct. 1826. 16 L. Ed. 2d 

908 (1966)): see also McNeezv. 133 S. Ct. at 1558 (acknowledging that a 

warrantless. non-consensual blood test is a search under the Fourth 

Amendment. and it is reasonable only if it falls within a recot,rnized 

exception). Therefore, in order for a warrantless blood draw to withstand a 

constitutional challenge. it must fall under an exception to the warrant 

requirement. See State v. Garvin. 166 Wn.2d 242. 249-50. 207 P .3d 1266 

(2009). 

In McNeezv. the Court held that a per sc exigency does not exist for 

nonconsensual blood testing in all drunk-driving cases. and that ··consistent 

with Fourth Amendment principles . . . exigency in this context must be 

determined case by case based on the totality of the circumstances:· McNee(v. 

133 S. Ct. at 1556. 1563. 1568. 

13 



Mr. Garza did not consent to the blood draw. (CP 102: RP 219. 228. 

238-240. 242-243). Also. as the trial court concluded. there were no exigent 

circumstances that prevented the officers from obtaining a search warrant 

before taking blood samples from Mr. Garza. (RP 606-607. 609). Therefore. 

the law enforcement officers violated the provisions prohibiting unreasonable 

searches and seizures. under the Fourth Amendment and Article L § 7 of the 

Washington State Constitution. by taking blood samples from Mr. Garza 

·without a warrant. . ..')ee McNeely. 133 S. Ct. at 1556, 1558. 1563. 1568. 

The blood samples obtained from Mr. Gau.a without his consent did 

not fall under the exigent circumstances exception. or any other exception to 

the warrant requirement. Therefore. the trial court should have suppressed 

the fruits of the warrantless search ofMr. Garza. the blood samples and 

related testimony. including evidence that the DNA in Mr. Garza's blood. 

taken in the blood draw. matched the DNA in blood found on the driver's 

side airbag of the car. and evidence regarding the probability that a first 

cousin of Mr. Garza would match the DNA in blood tound on the driver's 

side airbag of the car. ,_)'ee Stater. Ladson. 138 Wn.2d 343. 359. 979 P.2d 

833 (1999) (stating that "[w]hen an unconstitutional search or seizure occurs. 

all subsequently uncovered evidence becomes fruit of the poisonous tree and 

must be suppressed.''). 

14 



The error is admitting the fruits of the warrantless search of Mr. 

Garza was not hannless beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Thompson, 

151 Wn.2d 793. 808. 92 P.3d 228 (2004) (stating ·'constitutional error may 

be considered hannless if we are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt 

that any reasonable trier of fact would have reached the same result 

despite the error."'). Although there was some evidence presented at trial 

that Mr. Garza was the driver on the night in question. this evidence was 

not overwhelming. considering the evidence presented that Mr. Garza was 

not the driver. (RP 181-182. 184.225-226.237.284.353.368.412.466-

67. 484. 488. 490. 500. 526). Ms. Gil testified that Mr. Garza was seated in 

the backseat ofthe car. (RP 181-182. 184). Trooper Haddorfftestified that 

while talking with Ms. Gil at the hospital. she told him that Mr. Garza was 

seated in the right rear passenger side of the car. (RP 237). Mr. Gar.m·s 

mother testified that on the night of the accident. Michael Garza told her that 

Mr. Garza was not driving the car. (RP 412. 466-467). Ms. Gil's father 

testified that he saw someone put Mr. Garza in the backseat of the car. when 

leaving the party at Ms. Gil's house. (RP 484.488. 490. 500). 

In addition. the blood draw was not authorized under the applicable 

implied consent statute. RC\V 46.20.308 (20 11 ). Missouri 1'. McNeeZr 

overrules sections of the implied consent statute where consent is not 

required, and an individual cannot refuse a blood draw. S'ee RCW 

15

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