Supreme Ct No. 913633

COA No. 31776-5-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF

WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

ELOY A. GARZA, Petitioner.

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Apr 01, 2015, 1:56 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED B F-MAIL

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tamara A. Hanlon, WSBA #28345 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

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

On appeal, Garza challenged two of the trial court's findings of fact regarding arrest. The Court of Appeals found that findings were supported by substantial evidence. Specifically, the opinion states that "[t]he special evidence warning informs a suspect that he is under arrest. By reading this warning to Mr. Garza, Trooper Haddorff placed Mr. Garza under arrest." (Opinion at 11). The special evidence warning begins with "Warning! You are under arrest for [x] Vehicular Assault." (See Appendix A).

It was uncontroverted that the special evidence warning was read to Garza prior to the blood draw. (RP 238). During the pre-trial hearing, the following dialogue also took place regarding the arrest:

> PROSECUTOR: When you were talking to Eloy Garza, he had already been, I guess at that time, fully advised that he may have been under arrest or, or facing charges, is that correct? HADDORFF: When, when he was advised of his rights from the, from the DUI packet, I believe so. I believe I have it in my report that... PROSECUTOR: So prior to him making any response, he was already aware that he was being a suspect in a... Is that correct? HADDORFF: Correct.

(RP 245). During oral argument on the motion to suppress, Garza never

argued or even suggested that there wasn't a valid arrest. (RP 309-311).

Furthermore, when it came time to enter the findings of fact on the

hearing, Garza objected to a finding that read as follows: "After speaking

with the victim, the troopers decided to arrest the defendant for Vehicular

Assault." (See Appendix B). His specific objection was as follows:

DEFENSE: Well, my objection, Your Honor, is that it indicates after speaking to the victim, that's when the --there was a decision to make an arrest, and I, I didn't get that from the testimony. I mean, I think they just made a decision to arrest him – THE COURT: Well, they did speak with the victim. DEFENSE: They did speak with the victim, but I mean it's not like after speaking with her they made the decision or that something that she said that, you know, that triggered **the arrest** because she didn't really say anything about Mr. Garza being the driver. But, in any event --

RP 603 (emphasis added). From counsel's objection, it is apparent that Garza *agreed* that there was an arrest and that this fact was not in controversy at the trial level. Garza never objected to the finding on the basis that there was never an arrest to begin with. And while very specific objections were made to other findings, Garza also never objected to the finding that "At approximately 0048 hours, the Trooper read the defendant the Special Evidence warning page from the DUI packet verbatim and advised he was placed under arrest for Vehicular Assault." CP 102. In sum, the Court of Appeals was correct in finding that the trial court properly admitted the BAC result under 46.20.308(3).

Even though the court did not get to the issue of constitutionality, the implied consent statute was not overruled by <u>Missouri v. McNeely</u>. In <u>Missouri v. McNeely</u>, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 1563, 185 L. Ed. 2d 696, 709 (2013), the United States Supreme Court held that there was no per se rule of exigency in every drunk-driving case. <u>McNeely</u> involved a "routine" DUI stop with no special circumstances such as an injury or death. McNeely was stopped for speeding and repeatedly crossing the centerline. <u>Id.</u> at 1556. He exhibited several signs of intoxication and admitted to

consuming a couple of beers. <u>Id.</u> He declined a portable BAC test. <u>Id.</u> He was then taken to a hospital for a blood draw. <u>Id.</u> The State argued for a per se rule for blood testing in all drunk-driving cases. <u>Id.</u> at 1560.

The Supreme Court's holding in <u>McNeely</u> does not, however, alter the application of Washington's implied consent statute to the facts of this case. <u>McNeely</u> only addressed the narrow question of "whether the natural metabolization of alcohol in the bloodstream presents a *per se* exigency that justifies an exception the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement for nonconsensual blood testing in all drunk driving cases." Id. at 1556.

The <u>McNeely</u> Court reiterated many times how narrow the question before it was:

Because this case was argued on the broad proposition that drunk-driving cases present a per se exigency, the arguments and the record do not provide the Court with an adequate analytic framework for a detailed discussion of all the relevant factors that can be taken into account in determining the reasonableness of acting without a warrant.

<u>Id.</u> at 1568. Justice Kennedy agreed that the case "does not provide a framework where it is prudent to hold any more than that always dispensing with a warrant for a blood test when a driver is arrested for being under the influence of alcohol is inconsistent with the Fourth Amendment." Id. at 1569.

<u>McNeely</u> also did not address the validity of implied consent statutes, such as RCW 46.20.308, or tests conducted pursuant to such statutes. Nor did <u>McNeely</u> address other potential exceptions to the warrant requirement. The Court also did not make any specific rulings about Washington's implied consent statute.

To the contrary, the Court acknowledged that implied consent statutes are among the "broad range of legal tools [States have] to enforce their drunk-driving laws and to secure BAC evidence without undertaking nonconsensual blood draws." <u>Id.</u> at 1566. The Court noted that all 50 States have adopted implied consent laws that require motorists, as a condition of operating a motor vehicle within the State, to consent to BAC testing if they are arrested or otherwise detained on suspicion of a drinkdriving offense." <u>Id.</u> (citing Washington's implied consent statute, RCW 46.20.308(2)-(3), (5)).

The Court went on to state that "[i]t is also notable that a majority of States either place significant restrictions on when police officers may obtain a blood sample despite a suspect's refusal (often limiting testing to cases involving an accident resulting in death or serious bodily injury) or prohibit nonconsensual blood tests altogether." <u>Id.</u> The Court used the example of implied consent laws as support that its ruling "will not

'severely hamper effective law enforcement.'" <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Tenn. v. Garner</u>,
471 U.S. 1, 19, 105 S. Ct. 1694, 85 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1985)).

.

Indeed, Justice Sotomayor and three other justices appear to endorse implied consent statutes, and their use of "significant consequences" to discourage a driver from refusing to submit to testing, as a preferred alternative to "nonconsensual blood draws." <u>See McNeely</u>, 133 S. Ct. at 1566 (plurality opinion). Neither <u>McNeely</u>'s holding nor reasoning compel the conclusion that RCW 46.20.308 is unconstitutional.

It is notable that <u>McNeely</u>'s factual background differs starkly from Garza's case. McNeely was subject to a blood draw for a DUI despite his refusal. 133 S. Ct. 1556. Under Washington's law, McNeely's blood test could not have taken place at that point because there were no special facts which would have allowed a test under subsections (3) or (4) or RCW 46.20.308. RCW 46.20.308(5) indicates that if a person refuses to submit to a test, no test shall be given except as authorized under sections (3) or (4). In Washington, a vehicular assault arrest is an exception allowed under subsection (3). A routine DUI is not an exception.

The <u>McNeely</u> case and holding are limited to non-consensual blood draws. <u>Id.</u> at 1556. Garza's blood draw was consensual. Pursuant to Washington's implied consent statute, the Legislature has imposed

conditions on its grant of the privilege to drive on public roads. As a matter of law, a person who exercises the privilege to drive and operates a vehicle on a public road is deemed to have given his or her consent to submit to a blood test for alcohol under certain situations outlined in the implied consent statute. In this limited context, implied consent is deemed the functional equivalent of actual consent. Thus, under Washington's implied consent statute and the facts of this case, Garza was deemed to have consented to the testing of his blood.

Consent to search is an exception to the search warrant requirement under the Fourth Amendment and article I, § 7. <u>State v.</u> <u>Hendrickson</u>, 129 Wn.2d 61, 71, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). As such, Garza's blood test was properly obtained pursuant to the implied consent statute and his rights under the Fourth Amendment and article I, § 7 were not violated. Under the circumstances presented, the police were not required to obtain a search warrant before conducting Garza's blood test.

Obtaining a driver's blood test under the procedures set forth in the implied consent statute is reasonable and does not violate the Fourth Amendment and article I, § 7. The governmental interest in protecting lives, securing the safety of our public roads, and deterring drivers from operating vehicles while intoxicated is strong and compelling. On the other hand, the intrusion on personal privacy effected by a blood test

under the statutory scheme is quite limited. Therefore, Garza's statutory implied consent exempted his blood draw from the warrant requirement. <u>McNeely</u> does not alter this conclusion.

3. The Court of Appeals properly limited review to the BAC result.

At trial, Garza filed a written memorandum seeking suppression of the BAC based solely on <u>Missouri v. McNeely</u>. (CP 34). His written memorandum in support of his motion states "For the foregoing reasons, we would respectfully request that this court find that a warrant was required to obtain a blood draw for **BAC purposes** and therefore the **BAC** in this case should be suppressed. (CP 34, emphasis added). Garza never asked the court to suppress the DNA results. (CP 34).

On May 15, 2011, the trial commenced with the State calling witnesses to testify, including Asa Law, from the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory. (RP 134). During her testimony, the prosecutor moved for admission of the blood alcohol test. (RP 138). Garza's attorney replied, "No objection, your honor." (Id.) The court asked, "subject to your pending motion?" (Id.) Garza's attorney replied, "Yes." (Id.). There were no objections when the State moved to have the DNA results admitted. (RP 254-58). As such, as the Court of Appeals correctly noted, no issue was raised concerning the DNA evidence admissibility. (Opinion at 12, n.5). This was apparent from Garza's written memorandum and from the lack of any objection at trial to the DNA results being admitted. As such, the issue was not preserved for appeal. RAP 2.5 indicates that "The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." RAP 2.5. The Court of Appeals acted within its discretion in limiting review to the issue that was challenged at trial, Garza's BAC result.

4. Any error in admitting Garza's BAC was harmless.

Assuming that the BAC result was admitted in error, such error was clearly harmless given the other evidence presented at trial. There was ample evidence that Garza was intoxicated when he crashed the car and injured his passenger. First, the troopers smelled an obvious odor of intoxicants on him, (RP 342, 350), and noted that he had bloodshot, watery eyes. (RP 342). Garza told a detective that he had drank a lot of alcohol that evening and didn't remember a lot. (RP 125). At trial, the Defendant's testified he was drinking beer and liquor -- specifically, two beers and straight shots of Vodka from a bottle. (RP 522, 524, 529). He said he had nothing to eat beforehand. (RP 532). He said that he didn't remember exactly how much he had to drink and couldn't remember much of the party. (RP 523).

There was also testimony that he appeared very intoxicated and was slurring his words. (RP 244, 328). Others observed that he was unresponsive, lethargic, and slow moving. (RP 219-20, 239, 240-42, 351). His father testified that he was "passed out." (RP 512). And his own mother testified that, "He was drunker than I've ever seen him in my life." (RP 421). She added, "[H]e was just not, not really conscious of where he was or who we were" and was not responding in a way that makes sense. (RP 422). She testified that another relative, Michael Garza, said that Eloy was "really drunk." (RP 465).

.

In addition, there was evidence of his driving that indicated that he was impaired. He drove over the fog line, causing his vehicle to become airborne over an embankment and collide head-on with a tree. (RP 95, 324, 331).

In sum, given Garza's numerous admissions of intoxication, and the testimony that was presented at trial, any error in admitted the BAC in this case was clearly harmless. Any reasonable jury would have reached the same result absent the BAC.

5. Any error in admitting the DNA results was harmless.

At trial Garza only moved to suppress the BAC in this case. (CP 34). "A party may assign evidentiary error on appeal only on a specific ground made at trial." <u>State v. Guloy</u>, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d

1182 (1985). When the DNA results were admitted at trial, Garza did not make any objections. (RP 254-58). As such, this issue is not reviewable. Even if there had been a timely and proper objection, the evidence would have been properly admitted at trial.

And assuming *arguendo* that the DNA test was properly objected to and admitted in error, such error was clearly harmless given the other evidence presented at trial. There was ample evidence that Garza was the driver. First are his statements. His initial statement at the scene was that "he missed his turn," a statement that clearly implies that he was driving. (RP 338, 351-2). The aerial map presented at trial shows that the only way he could miss Higgins Road is if he was driving from Ashley Road to Higgins Road. In addition, at trial, he stated, "[a]t first I thought I wrecked...my van." (RP 525-26). From this statement, one can also infer that he was driving at the time of the collision.

Second, Garza's father testified that Garza was bleeding and there was blood on the driver's side airbag. (RP 516). Garza also admitted that he cut his ear in the collision. (RP 526).

Third, Garza had a seatbelt mark on his left shoulder, consistent with sitting on the driver's side of the car. (RP 220, 225, 343). The driver's side seatbelt was elongated, indicating use during the collision. (RP 368). Victoria Gil admitted that she was sitting in the left side rear passenger seat, (RP 237), which would mean Garza was in the driver's seat due to the seatbelt mark. The physical evidence also indicated that Gil was not wearing a seatbelt, as the back of the driver's seat was indented. (RP 369). In addition, Garza testified that he had a fractured collarbone on his left side, (RP 526, 535), an injury consistent with him being in the driver's seat at the time of impact.

F. CONCLUSION

The decision at hand does not meet any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). First of all, the decision is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or another decision of the Court of Appeals. Second, a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is not involved. Lastly, the petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals decision correctly affirmed the trial court's decision. As such, the petition for review should be denied.